Statistical Analysis Plan for Keeping It Simple Study (KISS) – Pain science education for patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain undergoing community-based rehabilitation: A multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial.

Bettina Eiger<sup>1,2</sup>, Kelly Ickmans<sup>3,4</sup>, David Høyrup Christiansen<sup>5,6</sup>, Jesper Bie Larsen<sup>1</sup>, Mikkel Bek Clausen<sup>1,7</sup>, Michael Skovdal Rathleff<sup>1</sup>

- 1) Department of Health Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark
- 2) Rehabilitation Centre, Køge Municipality, Køge Denmark
- Pain in Motion research group (PAIN), Department of Physiotherapy, Human Physiology and Anatomy, Faculty of Physical Education & Physiotherapy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Laarbeeklaan 103, 1090 Brussels, Belgium
- 4) Department of Physical Medicine and Physiotherapy, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel, Laarbeeklaan 101, 1090 Brussels, Belgium
- 5) University Clinic for Interdisciplinary Orthopedic Pathways, Regional Hospital Central Jutland, Silkeborg
- 6) Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus
- 7) Copenhagen University College, Copenhagen

#### Publication date:

December 20<sup>th</sup>, 2024

#### Document version:

1.0

#### Clinical Trials registration:

ClinicalTials.gov: NCT06297447 (Registered February 29th, 2024)

#### Ethical approval:

North Denmark Research Committee on Health Research Ethics and was evaluated and deemed except from needing approval (N-20230073). The AAU Research Ethics Committee has approved the research activity, Case No.: 2024-505-00157 on February 16<sup>th</sup>, 2024.

## Funding:

This project is funded by *Karen Elise Jensen Fonden*, *Helsefonden* (**Grant no. 23-B-0275**), *Danske Fysioterapeuter* **(A1430)** and *Køge Municipality*.

# Contents

Section 1: Administrative Information	3
Title and trial registration	3
SAP Version	3
Protocol Version	3
SAP revisions	3
Roles and responsibilities	3
Section 2: Introduction	4
Background and rationale	4
Objectives	4
Section 3: Study Methods	4
Trial design	4
Sample size	6
Framework	6
Statistical interim analyses and stopping guidance.	6
Timing of final analysis	6
Timing of outcome assessments	6
Section 4: Statistical principles	7
Confidence intervals and <i>P</i> values	7
Adherence and protocol deviations	7
Analysis population	7
Section 5: Trial Population	7
Screening data	7
Eligibility	7
Inclusion	8
Exclusion	8
Recruitment & Withdrawal/follow-up	8
Baseline patient characteristics	10
Section 6: Analysis	12
Outcome definitions. List and describe each primary and secondary outcome including details of:	12
Analysis methods	12
Missing data	13
Additional analyses	14
Harms	16
Statistical software	16
References	17

# Section 1: Administrative Information

## Title and trial registration

Statistical Analysis Plan for Keeping It Simple Study (KISS) – Pain science education for patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain undergoing community-based rehabilitation: A multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial.

ClinicalTials.gov: NCT06297447 (Registered February 29th, 2024)

SAP Version Statistical analysis plan version 1.0, December 20<sup>th</sup>, 2024

## **Protocol Version**

The SAP is based on the protocol vers.1 uploaded to ClinicalTrials.gov on March 6<sup>th</sup>, 2024. The protocol was submitted to the North Denmark Research Committee on Health Research Ethics and was evaluated and deemed except from needing approval (N-20230073). The AAU Research Ethics Committee has approved the research activity, Case No.: 2024-505-00157 on February 16<sup>th</sup>, 2024.

SAP revisions No revisions have been made.

Roles and responsibilities

## Principal Investigator:

Bettina Eiger, PT, MSc, PhD-student, Department of Health Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark, Rehabilitation Centre, Køge Municipality, Køge, Denmark

#### Study chair:

Michael Skovdal Rathleff, PT, PhD, Dr. med., Professor, Department of Health Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

Mikkel Bek Clausen, PT, PhD., Senior Associate professor, Department of Health Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University, University College Copenhagen, Copenhagen

David Høyrup Christiansen, PT, PhD, Professor, Aarhus University and Central Denmark Region

Kelly Ickmans, PT, PhD, Associate professor, Pain in Motion research group (PAIN), Department of Physiotherapy, Human Physiology and Anatomy, Faculty of Physical Education & Physiotherapy, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussels, Belgium; Department of Physical Medicine and Physiotherapy, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel, Brussels, Belgium

Jesper Bie Larsen, PT, PhD, Department of Health Science and Technology, Faculty of Medicine, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

Detturin G

Chief Investigator, Date: Dec. 20th, 2024.

Hickael S. Rathleff Professor, Date: Dec. 20th, 2024

3

## Section 2: Introduction

## Background and rationale

More than 20% of people across the globe live with chronic musculoskeletal pain (1) and have a high usage of health care and loss of productivity (2–4). Guidelines recommend pain science education (PSE) as an important part of care (5–9), however there are barriers to implementing this in real life context, including training of those delivering the PSE (10) and low levels of health literacy among patients (11). The investigators adapted a PSE program, originally intended for children, to Danish adults in a municipality rehabilitation setting (*Eiger, Rathleff et al. 2024 – under review*). The adapted version, named PNE4Adults, shows promise in facilitating patient's own understanding and management of pain, and was well accepted (*Eiger, Rathleff et al. 2024 – under review*).

As we in this very pragmatic trial (as evaluated on the PRECIS-2 tool (12)), have included all adults patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain referred for rehabilitation, it would be beneficial to examine if there are factors moderating the effect of the intervention, to be able to inform clinical practice on whom to deliver the intervention to, if any. Pre-selecting potential moderators and stating a priori direction for the expected direction is recommended (13). We plan to examine the interaction between treatment effect and baseline measures of potential effect modifiers (moderator analysis).

## Objectives

**The primary aim** of the KISS-project is to evaluate the effect (as measured by MSK-HQ after three months) of PSE ('PNE4Adults') integrated into "usual care" compared to "usual care" alone in community-based rehabilitation.

H<sub>A</sub>: The hypothesis is PSE integrated into "usual care" will result in a larger improvement of musculoskeletal health (MSK-HQ) after three months (primary endpoint) compared to patients undergoing "usual care" in the municipality.

## Secondary aims:

- To evaluate the effect of PSE ('PNE4Adults' integrated into "usual care") compared to "usual care" alone in community-based rehabilitation on the secondary outcomes (defined below) at three months (primary endpoint)
- 2. To evaluate the moderating effect of self-reported baseline Health literacy (B-HLA), Pain self-efficacy (PSEQ), Sensitization (CSI), and Pain Knowledge (COPI-Adult(DK)) on the effect of PSE (i.e., PNE4Adults + "usual care") compared to control (i.e., "usual care" alone) on changes in musculoskeletal health (primary outcome) at three months (primary end-point), as well as the moderating effect of baseline Health literacy(B-HLA) on changes in pain knowledge (COPI-Adult) and Pain self-efficacy (PSEQ) at three months.

# Section 3: Study Methods

## Trial design

This study is a multicenter randomized controlled, superiority trial with a 2-group parallel design. Patients will be allocated (1:1) into either control or intervention group. Preparation of this trial was done in accordance with the PREPARE Trial guide (14), and reporting of the protocol follows the SPIRIT statement (15) and the TIDier

guide (16) and the statistical analysis plan (SAP) follows the structure proposed by Gamble et al. 2017 (17). The study protocol was registered before inclusion of the first patient on clinicaltrials.org (NCT06297447) and the SAP is uploaded before the last patient is included.

#### Control group:

The control group receives unrestricted "usual care". It could include a patient interview with individual goal setting and subsequent rehabilitation using cardio and strengthening exercises towards achieving the determined goals. It will be delivered by an authorized physiotherapist (not the same as delivers the intervention), and the intervention is determined by patient preferences, physiotherapist's clinical reasoning, and available resources. It can be individual or group sessions, depending on patient needs and available resources. Control group is kept separate from "intervention group" and serviced by a separate group of physiotherapists.

#### Intervention:

In the intervention group, the participants will receive individualized PSE in addition to the "usual care" with the PNE4Adults resource. The PNE4Adults sessions will follow the developed manual (<u>http://www.paininmotion.be/pne4kids</u>) and will be delivered by a physiotherapist in two individual sessions of each 30-45 minutes, shortly following the first meeting. Firstly, the function of a normal pain system is introduced, with examples of the pain being overly or under protective. Then, the patient teaches back giving the therapist the opportunity to evaluate the understanding and, if necessary, repeat essential key messages. Secondly, the sensitized pain system is explained. Thirdly, the subject is asked to reflect on this new information in relation to his/her own situation. Subsequently, the new pain science knowledge is integrated into "usual care" with any additional measures that need to be included, e.g., graded exposure, stress relief, graded activity, and cognitive therapies. The "usual care" component can be delivered as individual or group sessions depending on patient needs and available resources. Intervention group is kept separate from "control" group to eliminate contamination. There are nine physiotherapists delivering the intervention. Four in Køge Municipality, three in Holbæk Municipality and two in Solrød Municipality. They have all received training in delivering the intervention, as described in the protocol.

#### **Randomization:**

#### Allocation

After filling out informed consent and baseline questionnaires, participants will be automatically randomized using REDCap. Randomization will be stratified by site. Block randomization in random permuted, concealed block sizes of 4 to 12 (1:1) into two parallel groups is used to avoid imbalance in the randomization between intervention groups. A researcher, not otherwise affiliated with the study will generate the allocation sequence using sealedenvelope.com and upload it to REDCap and is the only person who will know the block sizes and group code.

The randomization will be coded (Group 1 or 2), thus the primary investigator (BE) and other data analysist will not know the code to the groups.

#### Blinding

As patients are engaging in a behavioral intervention, they are not blind to allocation, and neither are the physiotherapists delivering the intervention/ usual care. Treatment expectation is measured after randomization by a single tailored question: *"How confident are you that this treatment option will be successful in improving your MSK pain"?* with the answer options being *"Very sure", "Sure", "Neither sure nor unsure", "unsure", "Very unsure".* The person conducting the analysis and primary investigator (BE) will remain blinded. The intervention is an add-on to "usual care". Pragmatically, there are no restrictions to

"usual care" in either group. It is determined by patient preferences, physiotherapists' clinical reasoning, and available resources in the municipalities.

## Sample size.

The sample size calculation can be seen in the Protocol (ClinicalTials.gov: NCT06297447).

"The sample size calculation was performed using Stata vers. 16.0 and is based on our feasibility study and done in collaboration with a statistician. Our estimate of a sample size is based on the ability to detect a clinically relevant difference in MSK-HQ of 8.6 points between the two groups (18). To estimate a difference of 8.6 points (18), with a common standard deviation of 15 points, a two-sides type I error rate of 0.05, and a power of 95%, the sample size was estimated as 49 participants per group. Considering an attrition rate of 15% and a potentially larger variation than previous studies due to heterogeneity of participants, this requires 70 participants per group. The investigators anticipate that a sample-size of 70 participants per group will be sufficient to test for clinically meaningful differences between groups and ensure statistical power even if the variance in the outcome is larger than anticipated for the primary analysis. To allow for explorative subgroup analyses on the interaction of health literacy, the investigators will increase this sample-size to 100 patients per arm".

## Framework

A superiority framework will be applied to evaluating all outcomes, i.e., primary, and secondary outcomes, hypothesizing that the patients in the intervention group will improve more than the patients in the control group.

## Statistical interim analyses and stopping guidance.

## None were planned.

No stopping rule was determined a priori as we don't expect any adverse events.

## Timing of final analysis

The between-group analysis of primary and secondary outcomes will be conducted when all patients have reached the 6-month follow-up. The 6-month follow-up is expected to be finished in December 2025. An analyst blinded to the grouping variable (MSR) will export the data from REDCap into an Excel file, prepare the data (incl. removal of any identifiers, and anything indicating the interpretation of grouping variable). A blinded data analyst (JBL) will conduct the primary analysis and subsequently the primary investigator (BE) will assist in the completion of secondary between-group analysis and interpretation of results. Data from all timepoints (baseline, 6 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months) will be included in the analysis of continuous outcomes.

Conclusions will be based on results at the three-month end point. Results of the 6-month end point will be considered exploratory and confirmatory conclusions about superiority will not be based on these.

## Timing of outcome assessments

Outcomes are measured at baseline, 6 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months-follow-up. Exempt is adverse events, which will be evaluated continuously during the intervention period and GICS which is measured at all follow-ups at 6 weeks, 3 months, and 6 months.

# Section 4: Statistical principles

## Confidence intervals and *P* values

All statistical tests will be reported with two-sided 95% Confidence Intervals and evaluated with a significance level of 5% (e.g.,  $p \le 0.05$ ) (19).

## Adherence and treatment protocol deviations

Adherence to the intervention will be defined as participation in both, of the two mandatory, sessions of pain science education with the PNE4Adults in the Intervention group. Participation, including the time spent on the education is registered by the physiotherapists delivering the PNE4Adults immediately after each session.

Since the "usual care" does not specify any elements that have to be included, there are no assessment of adherence to this part (applies to both groups).

Adherence will be reported as number and percentage of participants in the intervention group participating in both PNE4Adults-sessions.

The per-protocol analysis will solely include those that:

- 1) Receive the allocated intervention (Control / Intervention)
- 2) Adhere to intervention (according to above)
- 3) Complete follow-up at three months

## Analysis population

All outcomes will be analyzed according to the intention-to-treat principles. The intention-to-treat population will be all subjects randomized to either group.

The per-protocol population is restricted to the participants who are compliant to the protocol as described above.

# Section 5: Trial Population

## Screening data

All patients with Musculoskeletal conditions referred to rehabilitation in Holbæk, Solrød and Køge municipalities are screened, but only those that are eligible to participate (as per in- and exclusion criteria) are noted. The time frame in which patients are screened for eligibility will be reported.

## Eligibility

This trial will include patients referred to rehabilitation at a community-based rehabilitation center with chronic MSK pain. Patients will be recruited from community-based rehabilitation in Køge, Solrød, and Holbæk Municipalities.

The following selection criteria will be used:

Inclusion

- Patients referred for rehabilitation in the municipalities Køge, Holbæk, and Solrød
- With chronic (>3 months) musculoskeletal pain.
- Adult patients (≥18 years) no upper limit (20)
- Able to understand, speak, and write Danish.

Exclusion

- Known cognitive deficits (e.g., dementia).
- Diagnosed with cancer or other serious pathologies, e.g., cauda equina.
- Pregnancy
- Drug addiction defined as the use of cannabis, opioids, or other drugs.
- Neurologic or psychiatric diagnoses that hinder participation, e.g., stroke and borderline.
- Lack of ability to cooperate.

Recruitment & Withdrawal/follow-up

Recruitment and follow-up will be reported in a flowchart, as illustrated in figure 1 below.

## Figure 1: Flowchart of inclusion and follow-up



## **Baseline patient characteristics**

Figure 2 below shows the flow of inclusion, randomization and when questionnaires are answered. At baseline (T1), socio-demographic data will be collected: age, sex, marital status, work status, and education level. Additionally, diagnoses and co-morbidities, pain duration, self-reported usage of pain medication, and sick-leave, Central Sensitization Inventory (CSI) (21) and Brief Health Literacy scale for Adults (B-HLA) (22) to characterize their clinical condition will be collected. Immediately following randomization, the patient is asked to answer the question: *"How confident are you that this treatment option will be successful in improving your MSK pain"* with response options being: *'Very confident', 'Confident', 'Neither or', 'Unsure'*, or *'Very unsure'*. We will consider the patients as confident, if they choose the options *"Very unsure"* or *"Very unsure"*.

#### Figure 2: Flow of inclusion, randomization and timepoints for follow-up



Figure 3 illustrates when which data are collected, as described below.

#### Figure 3. Summary of measures to be collected (SPIRIT figure)

	STUDY PERIOD					
	Pre-allocation		Allocati	Post-allocation		
	Enrollm ent	Baseli ne T1	on	6 weeks T2	<b>3</b> months T3	6 months T4
Enrolment: Eligibility screening Informed consent Allocation Confidence in allocation	√ √	$\checkmark$	√ √ √			
Intervention: Intervention (PNE4Adults + "Usual care") Control ("Usual care")			√	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Baseline assessments: Baseline demographics Brief Health Literacy Adult (B-HLA) Central Sensitization Inventory (CSI)		$\checkmark$				
Outcome questionnaires: Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) Mean Pain (NRS)		 √		√ /	√ ./	√ ./
Pain Interference (BPI) Concept Of Pain Inventory (COPI-Adult)				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS) Pain Self-Efficacy (PSEQ)		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Patient Specific Functional Scale (PSFS) Physical activity level		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		
Other: Adherence Time spent on treatment Adverse events		•	* *	•	• 	· · · · ·

Before randomization (T1) the following questionnaires are answered the first time, and repeated again at T2, T3 and T4: Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) + one question on physical activity level (18), Mean pain intensity (average of two numeric rating scales – most severe pain intensity during past 24 hours, and average pain intensity during past 24 hours, on a 0-10 numeric rating scale) (23), Pain interference (Interference part of the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)) (24,25), Pain knowledge (Concept of Pain Inventory – adult (COPI-Adult (DK))) (26,27), Pain catastrophizing (Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS)) (28), Pain self-efficacy (Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ)) (29), Fear of movement (Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11)) (30), Patient specific functional limitations (Patient-Specific Functional Scale, 0-10 scale) (31,32)). Throughout the trial, any adverse events will be noted by the physiotherapist, based on self-report from patients.

Continuous data will be presented as mean and SD if data has a normal distribution and as median and range if data has a non-normal distribution. Categorical data will be presented as numbers and percentages. No test for statistical significance for the baseline characteristics will be conducted in line with recommendations by the CONSORT statement (33). Instead, the clinical importance of any imbalances will be considered.

# Section 6: Analysis

# Outcome definitions. List and describe each primary and secondary outcome including details of:

**Primary outcome** will be change in Musculoskeletal Health from baseline measured with the Musculoskeletal Health Questionnaire (MSK-HQ) (18) to three months (T3). Secondary endpoints will be at 6 weeks (T2) and 6 months (T4). MSK-HQ is a patient reported outcome measure (PROM) with 14 items, ranging from 0 (worst possible score) to 56 (best possible score) with high reliability (ICC 0.86 (Cl95% 0.81 - 0.91)), that measures different aspects of musculoskeletal health. The minimum important difference is 8.6 points on the Danish version (18). It is a continuous score.

**Secondary outcomes – continuous** will be changes in below mentioned outcome measures from baseline to six week, three months and six months follow-up measured with the in brackets mentioned PROM.

- Mean pain intensity (average of two numeric rating scales most severe during past 24 hours, and average during past 24 hours, on a 0-10 numeric rating scale) (23),
- Pain interference (Interference part of the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)) (24,25),
- Concept of pain (Concept of Pain Inventory adult (COPI-Adult (DK))) (26,27),
- Pain catastrophizing (Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS)) (28),
- Pain self-efficacy (Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ)) (29,34),
- Fear of movement (Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11)) (30,35),
- Patient specific functional limitations (Patient-Specific Functional Scale, 0-10 scale) (31,32)).

#### Secondary outcomes - dichotomous

- Patients' impression of change (Global Impression of Change scale (GICS) (36) as a single-item rating by participants using a 7-point rating scale with the options "very much improved," "much improved," "minimally improved," "no change," "minimally worse," "much worse," and "very much worse"), (Dworkin et al., 2005) We will consider the responses as improved, if they choose the options "very much improved," "much improved," (options 7 and 6) and not improved if they choose the options "minimally improved," "no change," "minimally worse," "much worse," and "very much worse") (options "options "cery much improved," "no change," "minimally worse," and "options "very much improved," "much improved," (options 7 and 6) and not improved if they choose the options "minimally improved," "no change," "minimally worse," "much worse," and "very much worse") (options 1-5) (37)
- Patient satisfaction with current symptom state (Patient Acceptable Symptom State (PASS)) with the wording: "Taking into account your level of pain and also your functional impairment, if you were to remain for the next few months as you are today, would you consider that your current state is satisfactory?" (38),

#### Secondary outcomes - other

- The time spent on consultations will be measured in hours and divided into individual consultation and group-based consultation.
- Physical activity levels in the past week (One question on the MSK-HQ) (18).

## Analysis methods

We will use Q-Q plots and histograms to assess data normality and analyses are performed following the intention-to-treat principle such that randomized participants will be analyzed according to the treatment group to which they were originally assigned, regardless of treatment received, crossover or non-adherence.

## Between-groups comparisons

For the primary outcome (MSK-HQ) and all secondary continuous outcomes, we investigate the between-group difference in change from baseline to three months (T3) as the primary endpoint.

Analyses will include outcome data for baseline and all available follow-up time-points. The blinding will be ensured, by having one unblinded researcher extract data from REDCap, removing all group identifiers (e.g., time spend on intervention), and removing the identifier of Group 1 and Group 2. Then there is no way for the blinded data analysist to identify the different groups, and the blinded researcher will continue the data management.

We will visually explore the anonymized trajectories (Group 1 and Group 2) of improvements before applying the statistical model to the data. This will ensure that our choice of model matches the specific trajectories. This will be done by a researcher blinded to group allocation.

We expect to use a linear mixed effects model with the participant as random effect. The baseline MSK-HQ value, time (6 weeks, 3 and 6 months as categorial variable), group allocation (group 1/group 2) and term for interaction between time and group will be treated as fixed-effect variables. Covariance structure will be determined based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC)/MAICE procedure (39).

Conclusions about intervention superiority will be based on the between-group differences or the lack hereof in the change from baseline of the primary outcome and the primary endpoint (three months).

**Dichotomized secondary outcomes** will be analyzed using the Chi squared test to compare proportions, and odds ratio estimates with corresponding 95% CI will be reported. As recommended in CONSORT (33), Relative Risk will be reported, to help interpretation (40).

Descriptive analysis will be made to map the time spent on delivering the PNE4Adults part 1, part 2 and on which parts of Part 3 (if any) were delivered. Time spent on consultations, physical activity levels and any adverse events will also be descriptively reported.

All analyses of secondary outcomes will be considered explorative and not adjusted for multiple testing.

#### **Multiple analysis**

We have chosen not to adjust for multiple comparisons in this study. Our primary conclusions will be based solely on the results of the primary analysis, which examines the between-group difference in change in MSK-HQ at the three-month follow-up. Secondary analyses and moderation analyses are considered exploratory and are intended to generate hypotheses rather than provide definitive conclusions.

This approach aligns with recommendations to focus on the primary outcome to minimize the risk of misinterpretation due to multiple testing (41). While we acknowledge that secondary analyses may yield false-positive results due to the lack of adjustment, we consider this acceptable in this context as these analyses are exploratory and will be reported as such in our results. To ensure transparency, we will report all results with complete p-values and confidence intervals, and the interpretation of findings will be cautious, clearly distinguishing between primary and secondary results.

This approach ensures that the study design and analyses remain focused on the main research question while also leveraging the collected data to explore potentially relevant associations.

## Missing data

Missing data will be assumed Missing at Random using the maximum likelihood estimation inherent in LMM.

Since the linear mixed effects model includes all patients with at least baseline MSK-HQ score as a repeated observation of the dependent variable, it enables us to include the patients missing all follow-up data. There will be no imputations (42). Number of data points will be displayed in publication.

## Additional analyses

#### Sensitivity analysis:

The following sensitivity analysis will be performed on the primary outcome and reported alongside the primary analysis in the primary report:

- A per-protocol sensitivity analysis using the same method as with the main analysis.
- A sensitivity analysis, where we use selective imputations as suggested by Twisk et al. (42).

#### Subgroup analysis:

We will run explorative moderator analyses, as predefined in table 3, to assess the potential effect modifiers of treatment effect for Intervention ('PNE4Adults' integrated into "usual care") compared to "usual care alone".

Moderator	Hypothesized effect direction	Rationale	Data structure / Level as collected	Data format for analysis	Outcome at three months
Health literacy	Greater effect in those with high levels of health literacy	Low health literacy is a known to determine poorer outcomes. We hypothesize that better health literacy means that patients understand the teachings better and have more improvement in outcomes.	Continuous. Brief Health Literacy Scale Adults (B-HLA) 10 questions with 1-4 response options, sum score 10-40, higher scores reflecting better health literacy	Continuous	MSK-HQ COPI-Adults PSEQ
Pain self- efficacy	Greater effect in those with low levels of pain self- efficacy	As the intervention (PNE4Adults) is thought to target, amongst others, pain self-efficacy, our hypothesis is that a potential effect of the intervention will be more pronounced in patients with lower pain self-efficacy at baseline.	Continuous. Pain Self- efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ). 10 questions with response options 0-6, Sum score 0-60, higher score indicates greater self-efficacy when faced with pain.	Continuous	MSK-HQ
Sensitization	Greater effect in those with many symptoms of	Explaining pain, incl. central and peripheral sensitization and incorporating this	Continuous. Central Sensitization Inventory (CSI)	Continuous	MSK-HQ

#### Table 3: Potential moderators, hypothesized direction, and rationale for effect

	central sensitization	knowledge into rehabilitation is a target of the PNE4Adults. We therefore propose that those with more symptoms of sensitization will benefit more.	25 questions with response options 0-4, sum score 0-100, higher scores indicate more signs of sensitization.		
Pain Knowledge	Greater effect in those with low levels of pain knowledge	One target of the PNE4Adults is explaining what pain is, and possible factors influencing the pain experience. The less you know beforehand, the greater the possibility of improvement. Vise versa, if you already have the knowledge, there is no added effect of being taught about it.	Continuous. Concept of Pain Inventory (COPI- Adult). 13 questions with response options 0-4, sum scores 0-56, higher scores indicate more updated contemporary pain knowledge	Continuous	MSK-HQ

Each potential moderator will be analyzed separately.

The moderator analyses apply the same statistical approach as the main analysis and includes participant as random effect. Included as fixed effects are baseline score for outcome variable (MSK-HQ), baseline score for moderator variable (grand mean centered), all time-point (categorial variable), group allocation and the interaction between baseline moderator variable, time, and group allocation. All follow-up measurements of the outcome variable are included as repeated measurements.

The analysis will be conducted with continuous moderator variables and evaluated statistically.

Interaction plots are used to visualize the difference in effect at different levels of the moderator to help interpretation in the clinic. For this purpose, we will apply cut-offs for individual moderator variables based on the distribution of date (e.g. mean and ±SD) but also for suggested cut-off score when available from the literature. Specifically, for the CSI >40 is considered a sign of central sensitization (43); for B-HLA the authors of the scale suggest using cut-off scores for the converted scale (The Health Literacy for School Aged Children, HLSAC), e.g., low score (10-25), moderate (26-35) and high score (36-40) (22); for PSEQ >22 is considered as high (44). There are no suggested cut-off scores published on the COPI-Adult. Depending on the distribution of responses in each proposed category, we might choose to collapse categories or do sensitivity analysis to test the effect of different cut-points.

Further exploratory analysis may be conducted if deemed relevant, specifically mediation analysis if the data suggests a possible mediating effect, to explore mechanisms of the intervention and potentials for improving the intervention.

## Patient- and Public Involvement (PPI):

In the iterative development of the intervention, stakeholders (both patient representatives and physiotherapists) were involved, and the feasibility of the intervention was tested in a municipality setting on twenty consecutively referred patients with chronic MSK-pain (Eiger, B., Rathleff, MS. et al. 2024 – under review). When choosing secondary aims, the wishes of clinical physiotherapists were combined with relevant areas from the literature to ensure relevance from an academic as well as clinical perspective. We plan to involve relevant stakeholder in the interpretation and dissemination of results as suggested by Goulão et al., (45).

## Harms

#### Safety and adverse events:

Adverse events are not expected, as the intervention is educational (46). However, information will be gathered on any adverse events in agreement with the IMMPACT recommendations (36,47). Adverse events will be collected throughout the trial, and any adverse events will be reported as numbers and %. Patients will be asked to report any adverse events to their physiotherapist as soon as they occur. Muscle soreness or mild increase in pain is considered normal when initiating physical rehabilitation and is not considered an adverse event. There will be a Safety Monitoring Committee (SMC).

## Safety Monitoring Committee:

Ensuring the safety of all participants in this study is important. With the single purpose of handling any adverse events a Safety Monitoring Committee (SMC) will be set up. The SMC will consist of the principal investigator (BE), main supervisor (MBC) and a medical doctor, Jens Lykkegaard Olesen, who is not otherwise involved in the study. In case of an adverse event, there will be an online meeting at which the event will be assessed and possibly graded (according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events v4.03 (48)), the relation to the study determined, assisting the clinician in determining course of action, and deciding whether the participant can continue or should be withdrawn from the study. Action and treatment of adverse events will start immediately following the usual treatment protocols. Once annually a list of any adverse events will be reported to the Ethical Committee.

## Statistical software

Data is collected and stored in REDCap (Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, USA), which is hosted at a secure server at Aalborg University. In accordance with GDPR-rules, the data management plan has been approved by Aalborg University "Grants and Contract Unit" (j.nr. 2024-068-04552) before commencing the study. Data will be exported to Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Washington, USA) where it they will be prepared for analyses. Analysis will be performed in an up-to-date statistical software, specified in the publication.

## References

- 1. WHO. Musculoskeletal conditions [Internet]. [cited 2022 May 22]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/musculoskeletal-conditions
- 2. Dueñas M, Ojeda B, Salazar A, Mico JA, Failde I. A review of chronic pain impact on patients, their social environment and the health care system. J Pain Res. 2016;9:457–67.
- 3. Tuzun EH. Quality of life in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2007;21(3):567–79.
- 4. McDonald M, DiBonaventura M daCosta, Ullman S. Musculoskeletal Pain in the Workforce: The Effects of Back, Arthritis, and Fibromyalgia Pain on Quality of Life and Work Productivity. J Occup Environ Med. 2011;53(7):765–70.
- 5. Moseley GL, Butler DS. Fifteen Years of Explaining Pain: The Past, Present, and Future. Journal of Pain. 2015;16(9):807–13.
- Siddall B, Ram A, Jones MD, Booth J, Perriman D, Summers SJ. Short-term impact of combining pain neuroscience education with exercise for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Pain [Internet]. 2022 Jan 1 [cited 2022 May 6];163(1):E20–30. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/pain/Fulltext/2022/01000/Short\_term\_impact\_of\_combining\_pain\_neuroscien ce.3.aspx
- Sundhedsstyrelsen. Guideline National klinisk retningslinje for udredning og behandling samt rehabilitering af patienter med generaliserede smerter i bevægeapparatet [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2023 Apr 15]. Available from: www.sst.dk
- 8. Sundhedsstyrelsen. National clinical guideline for hip osteoarthritis-non-surgical-treatment and rehabilitation following total hip arthroplasty Quick Guide. 2021;
- 9. Sundhedsstyrelsen. Sundhedsstyrelsen. 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 4]. p. 1–59 Afdaekning af smerteområdet Fagligt oplaeg til en smertehandlingsplan. Available from: www.sst.dk
- Briggs E V, Battelli D, Gordon D, Kopf A, Ribeiro S, Puig MM, et al. Current pain education within undergraduate medical studies across Europe: Advancing the Provision of Pain Education and Learning (APPEAL) study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Feb 23];5(1):1–10. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/
- 11. Svendsen MT, Bak CK, Sørensen K, Pelikan J, Riddersholm SJ, Skals RK, et al. Associations of health literacy with socioeconomic position, health risk behavior, and health status: A large national population-based survey among Danish adults. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):1–12.
- 12. Loudon K, Treweek S, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M. The PRECIS-2 tool: Designing trials that are fit for purpose. BMJ (Online). 2015 May 8;350.
- 13. Sun X, Briel M, Walter SD, Guyatt GH. Is a subgroup effect believable? Updating criteria to evaluate the credibility of subgroup analyses. Vol. 340, BMJ (Online). 2010. p. 850–4.
- 14. Bandholm T, Christensen R, Thorborg K, Treweek S, Henriksen M. Preparing for what the reporting checklists will not tell you: The PREPARE Trial guide for planning clinical research to avoid research waste. Vol. 51, British Journal of Sports Medicine. BMJ Publishing Group; 2017. p. 1494–501.
- Chan AW, Tetzlaff JM, Altman DG, Laupacis A, Gøtzsche PC, Krleža-Jerić K, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: Defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. Vol. 158, Annals of Internal Medicine. American College of Physicians; 2013. p. 200–7.
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: Template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ (Online). 2014 Mar 7;348.

Dec 19;318(23):2337-43.

17.

- 18. Christiansen DH, McCray G, Winding TN, Andersen JH, Nielsen KJ, Karstens S, et al. Measurement properties of the musculoskeletal health questionnaire (MSK-HQ): A between country comparison. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2020 Jun 23;18(1).
- 19. Lesaffre E. Use and misuse of the p-value. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis. 2008;66(2):146-9.
- 20. Watson S, Louw A, Wingood M, Rico D, Podolak J, Maiers N, et al. Pain Neuroscience Education for Older Adults. Phys Occup Ther Geriatr. 2022;40(1):50–63.
- 21. Mayer TG, Neblett R, Cohen H, Howard KJ, Choi YH, Williams MJ, et al. The Development and Psychometric Validation of the Central Sensitization Inventory. Pain Practice. 2012;12(4):276–85.
- 22. Rasmussen SE, Aaby A, Søjbjerg A, Mygind A, Maindal HT, Paakkari O, et al. The Brief Health Literacy Scale for Adults: Adaptation and Validation of the Health Literacy for School-Aged Children Questionnaire. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2023;20(22). Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/20/22/7071
- 23. Salaffi F, Stancati A, Silvestri CA, Ciapetti A, Grassi W. Minimal clinically important changes in chronic musculoskeletal pain intensity measured on a numerical rating scale. European Journal of Pain. 2004;8(4):283–91.
- 24. Cleeland CS, Ryan KM. Pain assessment: global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. Ann Acad Med Singap. 1994 Mar;23(2):129–38.
- 25. Cleeland CS, Nakamura Y, Mendoza TR, Edwards KR, Douglas J, Serlin RC. Dimensions of the impact of cancer pain in a four country sample: new information from multidimensional scaling. Pain. 1996 Oct;67(2–3):267–73.
- 26. Pate JW, Simons LE, Rush G, Hancock MJ, Hush JM, Verhagen A, et al. The Concept of Pain Inventory for Adults (COPI-Adult) Assessing Knowledge and Beliefs Regarding Pain Science Education. Clin J Pain. 2022;38(1):32–40.
- 27. Eiger B, Straszek CL, Pate JW, Rathleff MS. Translation, contextual adaptation, and reliability of the Danish Concept of Pain Inventory (COPI-Adult (DK)) - A self-reported outcome measure. Scand J Pain. 2024 Jan 1;24(1).
- Sullivan MJL, Bishop SR, Pivik J. The Pain Catastrophizing Scale: Development and Validation. Psychol Assess [Internet]. 1995 [cited 2018 Feb 8];7(4):524–32. Available from: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/1040-3590.7.4.524
- 29. Rasmussen MU, Rydahl-Hansen S, Amris K, Samsøe BD, Mortensen EL. The adaptation of a Danish version of the Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire: reliability and construct validity in a population of patients with fibromyalgia in Denmark. Scand J Caring Sci [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1 [cited 2021 Oct 4];30(1):202–10. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/scs.12232
- 30. Eiger B, Errebo M, Straszek CL, Vaegter HB. Less is more: reliability and measurement error for three versions of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11, TSK-13, and TSK-17) in patients with high-impact chronic pain. Scand J Pain. 2022;
- 31. Kowalchuk Horn K, Jennings S, Richardson G, van Vliet D, Hefford C, Abbott JH. The patient-specific functional scale: Psychometrics, clinimetrics, and application as a clinical outcome measure. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 2012;42(1):30–42.
- 32. Maughan EF, Lewis JS. Outcome measures in chronic low back pain.
- 33. Cuschieri S. The CONSORT statement. Vol. 13, Saudi Journal of Anaesthesia. Wolters Kluwer Medknow Publications; 2019. p. S27–30.

- 34. Errebo M, Oxfeldt M, Tegner H, Christensen J. Psychometric evaluation of the Danish version of the Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire in patients with subacute and chronic low back pain. Scand J Pain [Internet]. 2024 Oct 4;24(1). Available from: https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/sjpain-2024-0032/html
- 35. Pedersen MM, Carstensen TBW, Ørnbøl E, Fink P, Jørgensen T, Dantoft TM, et al. Translation and examination of construct validity of the Danish version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. Scand J Pain. 2024 Jan 1;24(1).
- 36. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain. 2005;113(1–2):9–19.
- 37. Vasconcelos GS de, Andreucci A, Vicenzino B, Thorborg K, Mikkelsen M, Serrão FV, et al. Global Rating of Change for Better or Worse—What Does It Mean When Patients Who Are Treated for Patellofemoral Pain Rate Their Change? https://doi.org/102519/jospt202412120 [Internet]. 2024 Oct 1 [cited 2024 Dec 12];54(10):657–71. Available from: https://www.jospt.org/doi/10.2519/jospt.2024.12120
- Kvien TK, Heiberg T, Hagen KB. Minimal clinically important improvement/difference (MCII/MCID) and patient acceptable symptom state (PASS): What do these concepts mean? In: Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. BMJ Publishing Group; 2007.
- 39. Akaike H. A new look at the statistical model identification. IEEE Trans Automat Contr. 1974;19(6):716–23.
- 40. Norton EC, Dowd BE, Maciejewski ML. Odds ratios-current best practice and use. Vol. 320, JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association. American Medical Association; 2018. p. 84–5.
- 41. Rothman KJ. No Adjustments Are Needed for Multiple Comparisons. Epidemiology. 1990 Jan;1(1):43–6.
- 42. Twisk JW, Rijnhart JJ, Hoekstra T, Schuster NA, ter Wee MM, Heymans MW. Intention-to-treat analysis when only a baseline value is available. Contemp Clin Trials Commun. 2020 Dec 1;20.
- 43. Neblett R. The central sensitization inventory: A user's manual. J Appl Biobehav Res [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2021 Sep 6];23(2):e12123. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jabr.12123
- 44. Mo KC, Gupta A, Movsik J, Covarrubius O, Greenberg M, Riley LH, et al. Pain Self-Efficacy (PSEQ) score of <22 is associated with daily opioid use, back pain, disability, and PROMIS scores in patients presenting for spine surgery. Spine Journal. 2023 May 1;23(5):723–30.
- 45. Goulão B, Morris TP, Blazeby J, Gamble C, Gillies K, Laidlaw L, et al. Involving patients and the public In sTatistIcal Analysis pLans (INITIAL): A delphi survey. PLoS One. 2023 Dec 1;18(12 December).
- 46. Bülow K, Lindberg K, Vaegter HB, Juhl CB. Effectiveness of Pain Neurophysiology Education on Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Vol. 22, Pain Medicine (United States). Oxford University Press; 2021. p. 891–904.
- 47. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Wyrwich KW, Beaton D, Cleeland CS, Farrar JT, et al. Interpreting the Clinical Importance of Treatment Outcomes in Chronic Pain Clinical Trials: IMMPACT Recommendations. Journal of Pain. 2008;9(2):105–21.
- 48. Cancer Institute N. Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) Version 4.0 [Internet]. 2010 Jun. Available from: http://www.meddramsso.com